CASE NO. 70,327

PAUL L. MADSEN, Petitioner, V. JULIS 1987 STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent. By Debuty Clerk

PETITION TO REVIEW DECISION OF DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS WITH ATTACHED APPENDIX

SUBMITTED BY:

JAMES M. RUSS, ESQ. Law Offices of James M. Russ, P.A. Tinker Building 18 West Pine Street Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 849-6050

Attorneys for Petitioner, PAUL L. MADSEN

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, PAUL L. MADSEN, will be referred to as "Mr. Madsen", and the Respondent, the STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to as "the State". Mr. Madsen was the accused in the trial court and the Appellant in the lower tribunal. The State was the accuser in the trial court and the Appellee in the lower tribunal.

The record on appeal, as supplemented, consists of ten (10) volumes. The original record on appeal consists of seven (7) volumes, designated by Roman numerals I-VII. These volumes are consecutively paginated in the bottom right-hand corner. Volumes I-VI contain transcripts of the trial. Volume VII contains trial court pleadings and orders. In addition to the original record, three (3) volumes of a supplemental record on appeal have been filed. This supplemental record is also designated by Roman numerals I-III. The pages are consecutively paginated in the bottom right-hand corner. Volumes I and II of the supplemental record contain transcripts of pretrial hearings, voir dire, and a posttrial hearing. Volume III of the supplemental record contains additional trial court pleadings and orders.

The original exhibits utilized at trial, except for the alleged drug, have been submitted with the record on

appeal to the lower tribunal (SR/III/Clerk's certificate). No copies of exhibits were furnished to counsel on appeal.

The record on appeal was supplemented in the lower tribunal. Portions are contained in the appendix attached to this brief.

In this brief, all references to the initial record on appeal will be by the letter "R", followed by the Roman numeral of the volume, followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the supplemental record on appeal will be by the letters "SR", followed by the Roman numeral of the volume, followed by the appropriate page number. All references to the exhibits will be by the letters "Exh.", preceded by the abbreviation of the party introducing the exhibit, followed by the identification number or letter utilized by the trial court clerk. All references to the attached appendix will be by the letters "App.", followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This is a petition to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida ("lower tribunal"), styled <u>Madsen v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 948 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (App. 53-55). This appellate decision affirmed the judgment and sentence imposed upon

Mr. Madsen following a jury trial in the Broward County, Florida, Circuit Court ("trial court").

On June 6, 1984, Mr. Madsen and Kim DeGregory were arrested for trafficking in heroin and conspiracy to traffic in heroin (R/I/34, 154; SR/III/388-89). On June 22, 1984, Mr. Madsen and Mr. DeGregory were charged in a criminal information with delivery of heroin in an amount of twenty-eight grams or more (Count One) and conspiracy to traffic in cocaine in an amount of twentyeight grams or more (Count Two)(R/VII/1075).

Subsequently, Mr. Madsen filed a number of pretrial motions, including a motion to suppress an audio cassette tape recording due to an illegal search (R/VII/1076-77). On October 15, 1984, the trial court held a hearing on this suppression motion (SR/I/32-51). It was subsequently denied (R/VII/1078).

On February 28, 1985, the trial began (SR/I/116). During the course of the seven (7) day trial, sixteen witnesses testified (one by deposition) and eleven exhibits were received into evidence (R/VII/1083; SR/III/435). At both the close of the State's case (R/II/267) and at the close of all the testimony (R/V/915-17), Mr. Madsen's counsel moved for judgments of acquittal. Both motions were denied (R/II/267; V/917).

On March 8, 1985, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts as to Mr. Madsen (R/VI/1067-68; VII/1080-81), and verdicts of not guilty on both counts as to Mr. DeGregory (R/VI/1067-68). The trial court then directed entry of a judgment of acquittal on the conspiracy count (Count Two) as to Mr. Madsen (R/VI/1072; VII/1088). The trial court entered a judgment of conviction on Count One (R/VI/1070; VII/1087), and immediately sentenced Mr. Madsen to a mandatory minimum term of twenty-five (25) years imprisonment, a mandatory minimum fine of \$500,000, plus a \$25,000 surcharge (R/VI/1072-73; VII/1082).

Mr. Madsen's motion for new trial (R/VII/1084-86) was heard and denied (SR/II/381). After affirmance, and denial of post-decision motions (App. 56), a timely notice was filed in the lower tribunal and Petitioner's Brief On Jurisdiction was filed in this Court. An order of this Court accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument was entered on June 25, 1987.

B. FACTS

This case really began in April, 1983, with the arrest of David Ball on a charge of violating the Florida trafficking statute by selling two kilograms of cocaine (R/I/73, 165). In November, 1983, Ball entered into an oral "substantial assistance" agreement with the arresting policeman, Deputy Dennis Gavalier, and with

the State Attorney (R/II/211, 306-07). This agreement was reduced to a formal legal document signed by Ball, his attorney, and the Broward County Assistant State Attorney on February 13, 1984 (App. 64-65). One (1) year after his arrest, Ball pled guilty to the trafficking count in April, 1984 (R/I/166-67). By this plea, Ball faced a maximum of thirty (30) years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of fifteen (15) years imprisonment, and a mandatory fine of \$250,000 (R/II/308).

In his November, 1983, side agreement with the police and prosecutor, Ball agreed to procure arrests in drug cases in which there was contraband totaling <u>five</u> <u>times</u> that for which he was arrested, <u>i.e.</u>, ten kilograms of cocaine (R/I/167; II/307). For this, Ball hoped and expected to get the support of the police and prosecutor to have his unimposed sentence reduced by 80% to only a three (3) year mandatory minimum (1/5 of the sentence mandated by law) (R/II/317). Ball had not yet been sentenced at the time he testified against Mr. Madsen, sixteen (16) months after the making of his deal, almost two (2) years after he had committed a most serious violation of Florida drug laws, and almost one (1) year after his plea of guilty (R/II/317).

For several months after his entry into this "substantial assistance" agreement, Ball did nothing

(R/II/308). Eventually, in the late spring of 1984, he was contacted by the police about his lack of compliance with the deal (R/II/308). Ball then traveled to Freeport, Grand Bahamas, for the purpose of fulfilling his part of the "substantial assistance" agreement There, in May, 1984, he sought out Orville (R/II/314). (O.J.) Holden, whom he knew to be a source of drugs (R/II/320, 325; III/571). Ball told Holden if he had anyone who wanted to do a drug deal to contact him, because he was eager and had good buyers (R/II/310-11). Holden testified that in late May, 1984, he was then approached by Paul Madsen who asked Holden if he knew anyone interested in buying some heroin (R/III/554). Holden then arranged for a meeting among Paul Madsen, Ball, and himself (R/III/594). The meeting took place on May 30, 1984, at a hotel in Freeport (R/II/354). Ball testified that he had not done a drug deal with Mr. Madsen previously (R/II/304). Ball stated that his buyer required that the transaction must occur in the United States, not in the Bahamas (R/II/353). Thereafter, a number of telephone calls took place between Paul Madsen and Ball (R/II/331). An agreement was finally reached whereby Paul Madsen would deliver a pound of heroin to Ball and Ball's buyer (the police) in Ft. Lauderdale (R/II/355).

On the morning of June 6, 1984, Ball met Paul Madsen at a Days Inn in Ft. Lauderdale (R/II/356). Final arrangements were made for the transfer of heroin later that afternoon. About 4:40 p.m., Ball and Deputy Gavalier went to the residence of Janet Madsen, Paul's mother, where Paul was staying (R/I/86). Deputy Gavalier was acting in an undercover capacity as the prospective buyer of the heroin. While Ball remained outside, Mr. Madsen and Deputy Gavalier went inside the residence to Mr. Madsen's bedroom (R/I/89). There, Mr. Madsen and Deputy Gavalier discussed a heroin transaction (St. Exh. 8). Midway through the discussion, Mr. Madsen left the bedroom, went into another part of the house, and returned with co-defendant Kim DeGregory, who was holding a black flight bag (St. Exh. 9; R/I/90-93). From this bag, Mr. DeGregory took out two packets of a brown powder that was represented to be heroin (R/I/93). Deputy Gavalier field tested the substance (R/I/94). Satisfied with the results, he then exited the home for the announced purpose of getting the money (R/I/152-53). Surveilling police agents were signaled by him. After Deputy Gavalier returned to the residence, Mr. Madsen and Mr. DeGregory were arrested (R/I/1036, 154).

The contents of both packets were later tested by a state chemist. He testified both packets contained heroin (R/II/254).

The conversation which occurred in Mr. Madsen's bedroom was intercepted by means of a body-bug worn by the police agent, acting without either a search or arrest warrant (R/I/22-25, 84). It was transmitted to and recorded by additional agents parked near the Madsen residence (R/I/22-25). Over defense objection, an audio cassette tape recording of the conversation was admitted into evidence and was played to the jury (St. Exh. 8; R/I/100-21).

Paul Madsen's defense was that of entrapment. He testified that he was a fisherman in the Bahamas (R/III/426). One day while fishing in the Bahamas, he saw what appeared to him to be a drug drop (R/II/294-96; III/433). That evening he went to several bars and told various people what he had seen (R/III/434-35). The following day he was contacted by O.J. Holden about the subject of drugs missing from the drop that Mr. Madsen had witnessed and reported (R/III/437). Mr. Madsen was told by Holden that drugs were missing, and that he was responsible. Mr. Madsen testified that Holden insisted that, to satisfy the people who had lost the drugs in the drug drop, Mr. Madsen must take part in a heroin drug deal (R/III/445). Because he feared for the lives and safety of both himself and his mother, Paul Madsen went along with Holden's proposal (R/III/446-47, 479).

He was then introduced to Ball by Holden, who told him what to do in the transfer of drugs (R/III/452-54).

At trial, defense counsel attempted to show that the original audio cassette tape recording of the June 6, 1984, conversation had been tampered with. A defense expert, Charles Shultz, testified there was one time when the tape had clearly stopped, and there were several times where the tape may have been edited (R/IV/053, 655, 673, 685). Before Mr. Shultz testified, Mr. Madsen's attorney stated he had an additional witness whose name had not been disclosed on any prior defense reciprocal discovery lists. The expert witness, Brian Clepper, had listened to the tape that very morning and made findings that the integrity of the tape had indeed been tampered with (R/IV/607). Defense counsel proffered that Mr. Clepper had more expertise in the field of audio enhancement than Mr. Shultz, and that his testimony was not cumulative (R/IV/608). The State argued the witness should not be allowed to testify due to prejudice to the State arising from the late notice and inability to prepare cross-examination (R/IV/613). The trial court ruled that Mr. Clepper could not testify (R/IV/619).

At the charge conference, defense counsel submitted proposed written jury instructions on entrapment

(R/V/918-20; SR/III).¹ He argued that the trial court must include in its entrapment instruction language to the effect that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Madsen was not entrapped (R/V/918-21). The trial court refused to do so and gave the standard instructions on reasonable doubt and entrapment (R/VI/1049-53). Later, in response to a jury question concerning the definition of entrapment (R/VII/1079), the trial court, again over defense objection, failed to provide any instruction on the State's burden of proof as to entrapment (R/VI/1065-66).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. ERRONEOUS INSTRUCTION AND INCOMPLETE AND INACCURATE REINSTRUCTION ON ENTRAPMENT DENIED MR. MADSEN HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

At the charge conference, defense counsel unsuccessfully argued that the trial court must include in its entrapment instruction language to the effect that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Madsen was not entrapped (R/V/918-21; SR/III). The trial court refused to do so and gave the standard instructions on reasonable doubt and entrapment (R/VI/1049-53). Later, in response to a jury question

<u>1</u>/ These instructions are filed as part of the supplemental record on appeal. However, they are not paginated.

concerning the definition of entrapment (R/VII/1079), the trial court, again over defense objection, failed to provide <u>any</u> instruction on the State's burden of proof as to entrapment (R/VI/1065-66). Since the trial court's instruction and reinstruction on entrapment were incomplete and inadequate, reversal of Mr. Madsen's conviction is required.

II. CONTINGENT AGREEMENT AND OUTRAGEOUS MISCONDUCT ON PART OF STATE AGENTS REQUIRES REVERSAL AND DISMISSAL.

This prosecution was orchestrated and created by a police informant, David Ball. Ball, having pled guilty to trafficking in cocaine, had a contingent agreement with the police and prosecutor whereby he would provide "substantial assistance" by engaging in drug transactions and cooperating with the prosecution in exchange for the State's assistance in reducing his mandatory minimum sentence from fifteen (15) years to three (3) years (R/II/307-08) (App. 64-65). To meet his part of this deal, Ball engaged Mr. Madsen in a drug transaction, after actively pursuing him. There was no evidence that Mr. Madsen was then involved in any ongoing criminal drug activity of any kind. This contingent agreement and outrageous conduct of Ball and the police violated the Florida and federal constitutional guaran-

tees of due process of law, and mandate reversal of Mr. Madsen's judgment and sentence, and dismissal of the information with prejudice.

III. ADMISSION OF TAPE RECORDING OF CONVERSA-TION IN DEFENDANT'S HOME VIOLATED MR. MADSEN'S RIGHT OF PRIVACY.

A key piece of the State's evidence was an audio cassette tape recording of the conversation which occurred in Mr. Madsen's bedroom in the home of his mother on June 6, 1984, the date of the alleged heroin transfer (St. Exh. 8). Since the surreptitious recording of this conversation occurred in Mr. Madsen's home, its admission into evidence violated his rights of privacy under the Florida Constitution. The trial court erred in failing to suppress this evidence. Mr. Madsen is therefore entitled to a new trial in which this evidence must be excluded.

IV. EXCLUSION OF DEFENSE WITNESS DENIED MR. MADSEN HIS FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

In support of his defense of entrapment, Mr. Madsen's attorney attempted to show that the key piece of prosecution evidence, the tape of the conversation surrounding the actual transfer, had been tampered with. To this point, he attempted to call Brian Clepper, a tape expert, to testify as to tampering with the tape (R/IV/607). Mr. Clepper was a newly discovered witness and his name had not been provided to the State as a

potential defense witness. The State objected to Mr. Clepper being used as a witness, and Mr. Clepper was excluded (R/IV/612-19). This exclusion denied Mr. Madsen his fundamental rights to compulsory process, to present a defense, and to a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

I. ERRONEOUS INSTRUCTION AND INCOMPLETE AND INACCURATE REINSTRUCTION ON ENTRAPMENT DENIED MR. MADSEN HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The right to a fair trial is guaranteed by both state and federal constitutions. Art. I, §9, Fla. Const.; Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, United States Constitution. Encompassed within the concepts of "fair trial" and "due process" is the principle that the trial judge must accurately and completely instruct the jury on all applicable law.

The trial court committed reversible error by twice giving the jury an inaccurate, incomplete instruction and reinstruction on the law of entrapment. These instruction errors on Mr. Madsen's theory of defense denied him his fundamental right to a fair trial.

A jury in a criminal case is told, as was Mr. Madsen's jury, that it must rely on the instructions of the trial court, and only those instructions, as the legal principles to be applied in the case at issue

(R/VI/1060). In order to allow the jury to perform its duty, it is therefore critically imperative that the trial court give the jury <u>complete</u> and <u>accurate</u> instructions. For example, see <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 12 FLW 298 (Fla. 6/18/87). Without complete and accurate instructions, the defendant's rights to trial by jury and due process of law are rendered meaningless, since it is only upon complete and accurate instructions that a defendant can obtain a fair trial.

Initial Entrapment Instruction Α. As defense counsel announced during voir dire (SR/I/161-62), as he stated in his opening statement (R/II/279-80), and as he stressed in his closing argument (R/V/968), Mr. Madsen's defense was entrapment. At the charge conference, defense counsel submitted proposed written jury instructions on entrapment (SR/III). He argued that the instruction given by the trial court must contain language from the Fourth District's decision in Moody v. State, 359 So.2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), that the State has the burden of disproving entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt (R/V/918-20). This written instruction was denied on the trial court's ruling that the 1981 Florida standard instruction on entrapment combined with the 1981 Florida standard instruction on the burden of proof was sufficient (R/VI/1049-53).

This Court subsequently considered the issue of the adequacy of the 1981 Florida standard jury instruction on entrapment. In <u>Rotenberry v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1985), this Court affirmed a ruling of the First District Court of Appeal and held that the standard instruction on entrapment ". . . is adequate in combination with the general reasonable doubt instruction". <u>Id</u>. at 973. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Sneeringer v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 125, 126 (Fla. 1985). <u>Rotenberry</u> did not discuss <u>Moody</u>.

In <u>State v. Wheeler</u>, 468 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1985), a case decided the same day as <u>Rotenberry</u>, this Court considered the burden of proceeding with the burden of proof in an entrapment case. This Court reiterated that the State has the burden of disproving entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. It reversed a defendant's conviction on the basis of the trial court's erroneous statement to the jury [in interrupting the defendant's closing argument] that the trial court's jury instructions did not include any instruction to the effect that the State was required to prove the defendant was not entrapped. In <u>Wheeler</u>, at 468 So.2d 980, this Court stated:

[a]s we held in our recent examination of entrapment, "[t]he essential element of the defense of entrapment is the absence of a predisposition of the defendant to commit the offense." <u>State v. Dickinson</u>, 370 So.2d 762, 763 (Fla. 1979). The burden with respect to predisposition lies

with the state. "Once the evidence is introduced which suggests the possibility of entrapment, the State must prove that the defendant was predisposed to commit the offense charged." <u>Story v. State</u>, 355 So.2d 1213, 1215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

<u>See also Morris v. State</u>, 487 So.2d 291, 293-94 (Fla. 1986).

This Court did not explain how the opinions in <u>Rotenberry</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Wheeler</u>, <u>supra</u>, can be logically read together. Despite the critical "absence of a predisposition of the defendant to commit the offense", <u>Rotenberry</u> does not require that the jury be specifically instructed that this essential must be proved by the State beyond all reasonable doubt. The general instruction on the State's burden of proof, which is given at an earlier and unrelated point in the entire jury instructions, will suffice. <u>Rotenberry</u>, <u>supra</u>.

<u>Rotenberry</u> indicates that the trial court's initial instruction to the jury defining entrapment, in combination with its instruction on the burden of proof, was adequate. However, after <u>Rotenberry</u> this Court addressed a similar issue in <u>Yohn v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 123 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Yohn</u>, this Court ruled that the 1981 Florida standard jury instruction on insanity, even when considered in combination with the 1981 Florida

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