PAUL L. MADSEN,

Petitioner,

V.

CASE NO. 70, 327

Respondent,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

DIANE E. LEEDS
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

Thus, under the authority of <u>United States v. White</u>,

401 U.S. 745 (1971), <u>Lopez v. United States</u>, 373 U.S. 427 (1963),

see <u>Hume</u>, Case no. 66,704, and where the subject electronic

surveillance took place after January 3, 1983, the effective date

of the amendment to Article I, Section 12 of the Florida

Constitution, this Court must affirm the trial court's order

denying Defendant's motion to suppress.

Lastly, as applies to the facts of the instant case, should this court hold that the tape recording in question was properly suppressed, because Detective Gavalier, the undercover

⁴Defendant's barebone challenge to the constitutionality of Article I, Section 12, as amended, contained in his fn. 2, preserves no argument for review in this Court.

agent testified as to what occurred in the house and what was said, (R.89-93), the introduction of the tape was cumulative and harmless. See Odom v. State, 403 So.2d 936, 940 (Fla. 1981).

POINT C

SHOULD THIS COURT CHOOSE TO ENTERTAIN THE ISSUES ANCILLARY TO THE ISSUE VESTING JURISDICTION WHICH DO NOT AFFECT THE OUTCOME OF THIS PETITION AND HAVE BEEN FOUND BY THE DISTRICT COURT TO BE NON MERITORIOUS, NO ERROR IS SHOWN.

POINT I

PROPER INSTRUCTION AND REINSTRUCTION ON ENTRAPMENT DID NOT DENY DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL. (Restated.)

Defendant alleges that the trial court committed reversible error when it refused to initially instruct the jury separately that the state had the burden of disproving entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt, and then again on reinstruction.

Defendant asserts this was a violation of his federal due process rights.

The State submits that Defendant's position is without merit. As pointed out by Defendant, the Florida Supreme Court in Rotenberry v. State, 468 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1985) held that the standard instruction on entrapment is adequate in combination with the general reasonable doubt instruction to inform the jury that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped.

Although, the Rotenberry court did not specifically discuss the decision in Moody v. State, 359 So.2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), it did discuss its prior decision in State v. Wheeler, 468 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1985) which adopted Moody. 468 So.2d at 981. Furthermore, this court approved the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in McCray v. State, 433 So.2d 5 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), in which it was held that the standard jury instructions when considered with the instructions on reasonable doubt and the state's burden, meets the Moody requirements. McCray v. State, 473 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1985).

Thus, it is clear that the trial court did not err in its initial instructions to the jury. The issue then becomes whether the trial court erred in refusing to reinstruct the jury when they asked only for an explanation of entrapment (R.1065), of the state's burden of proof.

The feasibility and scope of a reinstruction to the jury is a matter residing within the discretion of the trial judge. Henry v. State, 359 So.2d 864, 866 (Fla. 1978). It is proper for a judge to limit the repetition of the charges to those specifically requested provided that the repeated charges are complete on the subject requested. Id. When the jury's request for clarification is a narrow one, then the trial court is not compelled to repeat the entire set of instructions initially given. Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803, 811 (Fla. 1983).

In the instant case the jury only wanted an explanation of what entrapment was, i.e., its elements. They obviously were only concerned with whether the Defendant had met his initial burden of adducing evidence of entrapment. The trial court had already instructed the jury on the state's burden of proof. The jury was not concerned with that. Thus, the trial court was not required to reinstruct as given was complete on the subject involved. See, e.g. Cheatham v. State, 346 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (trial court not required to reinstruct jury on reasonable doubt when jury requests reinstruction on the elements of the charge. 5

⁽Cont'd. on next page)

POINT II

CONTINGENT AGREEMENT AND CONDUCT ON PART OF STATE AGENTS DOES NOT REQUIRE DIS-MISSAL. (Restated.)

Defendant alleges that his conviction must be reversed and that he be discharged because of alleged actions by the state which violated his right to due process. Defendant asserts that the evidence shows an invalid contingent fee agreement and entrapment as a matter of law.

Defendant raised the issue of the substantial assistance agreement entered into between David Ball and the state as constituting an illegal contigency fee agreement, like that condemned in State v. Glosson, supra, for the first time on appeal. The State submits that Defendant's interpretation of the agreement is absurd. Pursuant to his substantial assistance agreement with the state, Ball was required to provide information about cases involving up to ten kilograms of cocaine. (R.307). The fact that ten kilograms is fives times the amount he was arrested for, and that if he provided substantial assistance, his sentence would be reduced to the three year minimum mandatory, instead of the maximum of fifteen, hardly makes the agreement a "contingency" agreement.

⁵The cases cited by Defendant are not analogous because in each case the reinstruction required instruction on the element of the charge or as in Reynolds v. State, 322 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), the jury specifically requested reinstruction on circumstantial evidence and reasonable doubt, and the presumption of innocence was integral to understanding the latter.

State v. Glosson, supra is not applicable to the instant case because in Glosson the major concern of the Court was the fact that the informant was required to testify and cooperate in the criminal prosecution in order to receive his contingent fee from the forfeitures. The Court was concerned that such a situation had a potential for the abuse of a defendant's due process right because there was an enormous financial incentive by the informant to not only make criminal cases but to color his testimony or perjure himself. instant case, Ball was not required as part of the agreement to have to testify in order to perform the substantial assistance. (R.316, 359). In fact, Ball was not even called by the state, but rather was the Defendant's witness. In Owen v. State, 443 So.2d 173 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the court distinguished Glosson on the fact that the informant's fee was not dependent on the informant's cooperation at trial. 433 So.2d at 176. See also Dodd v. State, 475 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Yolman v. State, 473 So. 2d 716 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In addition, the federal courts have found that a due process violation is not present in contingency fee agreements where the government agents themselves do not select the person against whom the informant will direct his efforts and do not make the informant's payments contingent upon the convicting of a particular person. See United States v. Richardson, 764 F.2d 1514, 1520 (11th Cir. 1985); United States

⁶Nor did Ball perjure himself on the stand as alleged by Defendant in his brief (Petitioner's Brief, p.25-26).

v. Walker, 720 F.2d 1527, 1539 (11th Cir. 1983); United States v. Onori, 535 F.2d 938, 942-943 (5th Cir. 1976). Because the state did not select the Defendant nor was Ball's substantial assistance contingent upon the Defendant's conviction, Defendant has failed to show the type of governmental misconduct which requires dismissal.

The State further submits that Defendant has failed to demonstrate that the state's actions in the instant case amounted to entrapment as a matter of law such as to require dismissal under <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla. 1985). This Court in reviewing the facts must review them with all inferences and conflicts in testimony resolved in favor of the state.

The facts show that David Ball, acting as a confidential informant contacted O. J. Holden, whom Ball knew to be a source of drugs (R.320, 325) and told Holden that if he knew of anyone trying to sell drugs, he was interested. (R.310-11.603). Holden, who denied working for the police (R.562), and whose involvement Detective Gavalier testified to, was not known to him until after the initial contact, (R.222-223) when Ball told him (R.353), was then approached by the Defendant who asked him if he knew anyone interested in purchasing heroin, (R.557), in that he had a pound of heroin for sale at a price of \$150,000. (R.372). Holden then contacted Ball and made the introduction. (R.372). After talking with Gavalier, Ball told Defendant that his buyer wanted to do the deal in the United States. (R.353). A number of phone calls then took place

between Defendant and Ball. Ball testified that Defendant initiated most of them. (R.330). They finally reached an agreement, when Defendant would deliver the heroin to Ball's buyer in Fort Lauderdale. (R.355). At no time did Defendant indicate that he was in fear or was being threatened. He only appeared to be afraid that the buyers would be police or he would be ripped off. (R.330, 357). Defendant never expressed his fear of Holden to David Rose, his landlord/roommate (R.414-415) or to his mother (R.525) or tell any law enforcement agencies. (R.479).

This Court has held that there is no constitutional prohibition against a law enforcement officer providing the opportunity for a person who has the willingness and readiness to break the law. A high degree of law enforcement participation does not per se constitute a defense to a criminal charge. State v. Dickerson, 370 So.2d 762, 763 (Fla. 1979). Tentrapment has not occurred as a matter of law where police activity (1) has as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity; and (2) utilizes means reasonable tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity. Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 522.

Defendant seems to be under the impression that the first prong of <u>Cruz</u> requires that before the state can use an informant they must have first known or suspected the defendant

⁷Dickerson is not inconsistent with Cruz. See Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d at 523 (Overton, J., concurring).

to be specifically involved in the targeted criminal activity. The State submits that is not what <u>Cruz</u> stands for, because if it did, it would be saying to all potential defendants with predisposition, that they will be allowed to engage in one free crime, because only the next time will the police be able to say that they were specifically targeting the defendant because of his past conduct.

Rather Cruz must be interpreted based on its facts, i.e., that in that case there was no specific criminal activity targeted. In the instant case, drug trafficking in South Florida was clearly targeted. That was the purpose of the substantial assistance agreement. As recognized in State v. Thennes, 422 So.2d 46, 47 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), in South Florida, drug trafficking is an ongoing deadly game. See also United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 562, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1881 (1980) (Powell, J., concurring). Where drug trafficking was specifically targeted, the fact that Defendant, who was previously unknown to the informant as being involved, may have been solicited by the informant and offered the opportunity to commit the crime of trafficking in narcotics, does not show entrapment as a matter of law. See United States v. Gunter, 741 F.2d 151, 153-154 (7th Cir. 1984).

The State would further submit that Defendant has even failed to demonstrate that <u>he</u> was the victim of entrapment. The evidence shows that Ball, the informant, contacted Holden, who was then contacted by Defendant. There was evidence shown that

Holden was not a government agent. If there was any entrapment, Holden was the only one who could claim it. Defendant cannot avail himself of entrapment as a defense, where the state refuted Defendant's story that Holden was a knowing agent of the police whose inducing conduct the state would unquestionably be responsible. In other words, Defendant cannot claim vicarious entrapment. See Acosta v. State, 477 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); State v. Perez, 438 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

The informant did not initiate the offense, except to make a single inquiry of Holden. It was Holden who was approached by Defendant. Holden then relayed that information to Ball. Clearly, the means used in the case were reasonably tailored to apprehend only those involved in the ongoing criminal activity, i.e., drug trafficking. If Defendant had not been involved, based on the evidence presented which was favorable to the state, he would not have been apprehended. Persons who were not ready to commit the offense would not have approached Holden. They would not have delivered the heroin. Thus, there was not a substantial risk that such an offense would have been committed by persons other than those who were ready to commit it.

The only thing which society cannot sanction in the instant case is Defendant's actions in trafficking in one of the most dangerous drugs, heroin. The actions of the state in the instant case were not fundamentally unfair to Defendant. He was not deprived of his due process rights, and the trial court properly denied his motion for judgment of acquittal.

POINT IV

EXCLUSION OF A DEFENSE WITNESS FROM TESTIFYING WHERE DUE TO THE NATURE OF THE EXPERT TESTIMONY THE STATE'S ABILITY TO PREPARE FOR TRIAL WAS ADVERSELY AFFECTED AND WHERE THE TESTIMONY WAS CUMULATIVE DID NOT DENY DEFENDANT OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS (Restated).

Defendant alleges that the trial court erred in excluding Brian Clepper, an expert in audio tape analysis, as a defense witness for a discovery violation, thereby violating Defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to compulsory process and due process of law as well as his state constitutional rights.

During the presentation of his case, Defendant's counsel brought to the trial court's attention that his expert, Chuck Schultz had indicated that he was frightened to testify. (R.394). Counsel stated that he was trying to obtain the expert services of a Dr. Harry Holding, from the University of Florida. (R.395). The prosecutor objected stating that he had already spent 8 to 9 hours in deposition on three different occasions with Schultz. (R.397). The trial court refused to grant any delays. (R.404). Later that day, Defendant's counsel stated that he was able to contact Mr. Schultz and that Mr. Schultz would be there to testify the next morning (R.491).

The next morning, prior to Schultz' testimony,

Defendant's counsel stated that he had made arrangements for
another witness, Brian Clepper, to review the tape and make

findings. He stated that Clepper's findings were that the integrity of the tape was compromised because the tape was turned off initially and some of the clicks and other material that he heard in the tape were a clear indication of electronic edits. Counsel also stated that both Clepper and Schultz believed that the original tape had been tampered with because of a difference in quality with the copies. (R.616). Counsel moved that Clepper and Schultz both be permitted to testify, stating that the state would not be prejudiced because Clepper's testimony was "not going to be substantially different than the testimony of Schultz." (R.608).

The prosecutor again responded that he would be prejudiced because of how long he had worked with Schultz (R.609-610), how the state's expert had reviewed Schultz' depositions, and how he was prepared to rebut Schultz' expertise and analysis. (R.612). The prosecutor stated that the area was one of extreme expertise and that he did not have sufficient time to scrutinize Clepper's testimony, or have his experts do likewise, and without that opportunity, the state would be prejudiced. (R.613). The prosecutor argued that what had really happened was that after eight months, the defense had finally concluded that they were not satisfied with their expert's conclusions, so they had to find another expert. (R.613).

The trial court was concerned that the state would not have the opportunity to learn what the new expert was going to say, or to take a deposition or have their expert analyze the

defense expert's report. (R.618-619). At no time during the argument to the trial court did Defendant claim that the exclusion of Mr. Clepper as a defense witness violated either his state or federal constitutional rights to compulsory process, to present a defense, or to a fair trial. Thus, any alleged constitutional violation was not preserved for appeal. 8

As to the propriety of the trial court's sanction under the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, the State submits that the trial court conducted an adequate <u>Richardson</u> hearing⁹ and after considering all the circumstances, imposed an appropriate sanction. ¹⁰

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